

Doctoral School of Management and Business Administration

THESIS SUMMARY for

András Ócsai

Value Orientation of Ecologically Conscious Businesses

Ph.D. Thesis

Supervisor:

László Zsolnai DSc Professor

Budapest, 2018

Business Ethics Center

THESIS SUMMARY for

András Ócsai

Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses

Ph.D. Thesis

Supervisor:

László Zsolnai DSc Professor

© András Ócsai

Table of Contents

1. Former Research and the Justification of the Topic	4
1.1. Former Research	5
1.2. Justification of the Topic	6
2. Research Methodology	8
2.1. Epistemological Background of the Research	9
2.2. Units of Observation and Sampling	9
2.3. Data Collection and Data Recording 1	1
2.4. Data Analysis 1	2
2.5. Reliability and Validity of the Analysis 1	3
2.6. Ethical Aspects 1	3
3. Research Findings 1	4
3.1. Value Orientations of the Studied Businesses 1	4
3.2. Business Models of the Studied Businesses 1	6
3.3. Raison d'Étre of the Studied Businesses 1	6
3.4. Success Definitions of the Studied Businesses 1	6
3.5. Practical Suggestion Drawn from the Doctoral Research 1	7
4. Main References 1	7
5. List of the Author's Publications Related to the Topic	1

List of Tables

Table 1: List and Main Characteristics of Hungarian Ecologically Conscious Businesses i	n the
Sample of the Empirical Research	10
Table 2: Summary of Main Characteristics of the Sample Businesses	11
Table 3: Clustering of Patterns Identified in the Interview Transcripts	15

1. Former Research and the Justification of the Topic

In order to ground the doctoral research, based on Maxwell (2013), I defined my research goals at three levels. (1) At the most comprehensive level, my personal goals include significantly contributing -by meaningful work-to activities that improve the world; helping people and their business organizations to recognize that by pursuing only materialistic goals, we destroy the biosphere that provides conditions for life on Earth; becoming a better person, a better researcher, and through sharing my knowledge, supporting people in their own development. (2) My practical goals derived from these overarching goals are to look for the answers to the following questions: How can we live a meaningful life while contributing to stopping and reversing processes destructive to nature? How can we develop an economy that does not destroy, but improves the conditions of nature, serves society, and contributes to the preservation of the values of humankind? My practical goal is also to participate in research into understanding the operation and underlying values of value-oriented, especially ecologically conscious businesses. (3) Consequently from the above-mentioned, my intellectual goals are to explore the following: What are the concepts of ecologically conscious business and economy, what are their main characteristics, and links to each other? What values do the ecologically conscious Hungarian businesses have? What are their operating environments like? Why (raison d'être) and how (business model) do they work, how do they implement their ethical convictions, their value orientation, and how can they cope with the challenges of present Hungarian economy? How do they define success, what are the pledges of their survival? What are the environmentally beneficial impacts of their ecologically conscious behaviour? Do these businesses address the questions of ecological transformation, do they consider it possible and, if so, how? Drawing from their practical examples, are recommendations for the ecological transformation of the existing economic system to be made? Furthermore, is it possible to discover new theoretical concepts during their operation?

In the present doctoral thesis –based directly on my intellectual goals– I address the following research questions:

(1) What are the concepts of ecologically conscious business and economy? What are the key features of each concept and the links among them?

(2) What value orientation do the studied ecologically conscious Hungarian businesses have?

(3) What business models do the studied businesses use?

(4) What are the fundamental goals and raison d'être of the operation of the studied businesses?

(5) What are the success definitions of the studied businesses?

1.1. Former Research

During the analysis of the Hungarian and international literature, I found that the value orientations of businesses have been investigated in many cases, but the topic of ecological consciousness has been much less frequently in the spotlight. There are hardly any examples of studying the two together. Primarily, the issue of ecological consciousness –unlike environmental consciousness– is rarely addressed by economic publications. In the following, considered as former research of the dissertation, I am going to highlight one of the international and two of the Hungarian researches.

Susanne Kaldschmidt's 2011 research dealt with the values of sustainability and the impact of top business managers' personal values on sustainability strategies. She uses the phrase "awareness" which does not correspond to the notion of "consciousness" I found in the theoretical literature, however, her work was a good starting point for me. Her main research findings are that the personal values of executives of companies with better performance in the field of sustainability are reflected in the sustainability strategies of the company, which are thus transformative, innovative and authentic. She further emphasizes that the extent of the transfer of personal values to corporate strategies largely depends on how managers consider their own role and the role of the economy in society (Kaldschmidt, 2011).

In 2008, the study of value-oriented businesses at the Business Ethics Center of Corvinus University of Budapest found that value-oriented corporate behavior can be realized in Hungary's economic conditions because –according to Robert Frank's (2004) hypothesis– higher operating costs are compensated through special economic benefits gained by the trust and commitment of the stakeholders (Zsolnai – Győri, 2011).

During 2011, I participated in the research entitled "Sustainable, socially responsible corporate practice" conducted by the Business Ethics Center of Corvinus University of Budapest. During the empirical research, we studied progressive Hungarian businesses that consciously use ecological considerations in their business models. The study reaffirmed the hypothesis of Robert Frank and demonstrated that the surveyed companies base their ecological orientation on the personal commitments, intrinsic motivation of their leaders; and the motivation and success definitions of the ecologically oriented companies are multi-dimensional: the well-being of their stakeholders is just as important to them as their own financial prosperity (Győri-Ócsai, 2014).

Relating on the subjects of previous research and building upon their results, this doctoral research goes beyond former research in the following directions: summary of the theoretical literature of ecological consciousness and its appearance in business enterprises; study of the value orientations of ecologically conscious businesses through a deeper, previously not used, qualitative methodology; and

a systematic, comparative –in this field not yet applied (Chesbrough – Rosenbloom, 2002)– way of presenting and analyzing the business models of the selected businesses.

1.2. Justification of the Topic

Researches (see, among others, Carrington, 2016, Waters et al., 2016) confirm that we nowadays live in the era of the Anthropocene¹ when human activities have significant and global impact on Earth's ecosystems (Crutzen – Stoermer, 2000; Steffen – Broadgate et al., 2015). Our biosphere-transforming activities –primarily through the operation of societies and economies becoming global– by today have reached such an extent that results in incomparably higher, harmful and largely irreversible changes compared to other species. It is not only our well-being, but also the survival of our own and other species that are at stake (Pataki – Takács-Sánta, 2005; Takács-Sánta, 2004). To alleviate the ecological crisis affecting our whole planet, spreading of ecological consciousness and a praxis focusing on the restoration of the natural environment is needed. These would enable the economy to function again as a system "embedded" in nature and society (Polányi, 1976).

Owing to many excellent scholars and scientific communities (including Rachel Carson (1974), Club of Rome (2018), Mihajlo Mesarovic (Mesarovic - Pestel, 1974), Jan Tinbergen (1979), Ernst F. Schumacher (1991), Stockholm Resilience Center (Steffen - Richardson et al, 2015), we have known for almost half a century that we are facing very serious problems. Considering concrete signs of the ecological crisis, according to the distinction of András Takács-Sánta (2010), the main environmental problems are: changes in communities of natural living beings, deforestation, soil degradation; changes in global bio- and geochemical cycles, contamination, "acid rain", smog, eutrophication, "ozone hole"; global climate change; the decline in biodiversity; food scarcity; fresh water scarcity. With regard to each category either separately or aggregately, -without the need for completeness- the following main research organizations and programs follow up on the changes and confirm their mostly increasingly unfavorable tendencies: the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) since 1972; world conferences on climate since 1985; Brundtland Commission 1984-1987; Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2013, 2017) from 1988; the UN "Global Environmental Outlook" project since 1995 (UNEP, 2012) and the "Millennium Ecosystem Assessment" (MEAB, 2005); "Living Planet Report" and "Living Planet Index" from World Wide Fund for Nature since 1998 (WWF, 2016); Global Footprint Network since 2003 (GFN, 2018); and the "Future Earth" programme initiated at the "UN Conference on Sustainable Development Rio + 20" in 2012. This programme,

¹ Earth sciences have not yet officially recognised the Anthropocene epoch, and there is no general agreement about its beginning (some have proposed that the Neolithic Agricultural Revolution more than 12,000 years ago could be considered as start date, others traced it back to the Industrial Revolution, and most of the time to the nuclear tests at the end of World War II). It is generally accepted, however, that the Anthropocene is dramatically different from the previous eras and it has to be paid great attention because of from the 1950s increasingly accelerating deteriorative ecological, social and economic processes (what is called the phenomenon of "great acceleration" (Steffen - Broadgate et al., 2015)) transgressing planetary boundaries (Steffen-Richardson et al., 2015).

uniting more than 40,000 natural and social scientists from around the world, is designed to carry on and exceed more than three decades of research experience of the World Climate Research Programme, the International Geosphere Biosphere Programme, DIVERSITAS and the International Human Dimensions Programme on Global Environmental Change (Future Earth, 2018).

With our activities driven by consumption and economic growth, we are causing serious changes to our planet. Nevertheless, at this price, have we achieved material, spiritual well-being and happiness that we all enjoy? In his study, Colin Ash, a British economist, concludes that economically more developed countries have become much richer over the last fifty years, the average level of happiness of people has not yet changed (Easterlin paradox) because income growth only to a certain level of income (around 20000 USD per year in 2005 prices) increases happiness. Above this level, the quality and richness of interpersonal relationships contribute to the happiness of people, rather than rising income and consumption (Ash, 2010). The "Happy Planet Index" created by the New Economics Foundation in 2006 shows a more complex picture. It combines life expectancy, life satisfaction, and ecological footprint in a single indicator (NEF, 2009). According to the 2016 data of the Happy Planet Index, which were supplemented by income inequalities, there were countries that could improve their aggregate score, but there was not a single country that would have achieved the targets in each area (improving three factors while keeping ecological footprint below 100 %) (NEF, 2016).

Indisputable signs of the ecological crisis prove that the functionality of the prevailing, growth-based economic system is unsustainable as it depletes its resources and destroys its own survival conditions. As Herman Daly (2008) writes, global growth, which meets ecological boundaries, comes with greater costs than benefits, thus makes us not richer but poorer. Even the nowadays popular efficiency-enhancing endeavors cannot result in solutions because they cause just the opposite effects of what we would like. Improving efficiency of utilization of a resource increases the supply of that given resource, thereby reduces the price of it, which leads to the increase in the amount used (the so-called "Jevons paradox"), that is we reach ecological limits much earlier. Moreover, through growth, we cannot achieve even the other goal of development, the global reduction of poverty. Growth does not serve the basic needs of poor countries, but rather serves the needs of developed countries (Daly, 2008).

Predominantly, just the prevailing business model itself causes and deepens the ecological crisis (Daly - Cobb, 1989; Brenkert, 1995; Shrivastava, 1995; Ims et al., 2014; Capra – Jakobsen, 2017; Jakobsen, 2017). Because of the pace of change in the ecological crisis, small-scale adjustments are not enough. Ecological transformation of the economy, development and application of new progressive business models, which naturalize consideration of ethical viewpoints, respect for ecological values, transdisciplinary approaches and alternative thinking and behaviors in the business world, are

indispensable (Ims et al., 2014; Ims – Pedersen, 2015; Zsolnai, 2015; Capra – Jakobsen, 2017; Jakobsen, 2017; Harangozó et al., 2018; Steffen – Rockström et al., 2018).

2. Research Methodology

In the current phase of the research of the value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses, not the generalization of the results is the main goal but the deeper understanding of the selected cases, the exploration of the components and their relationships. I examine the characteristics of the studied businesses and the factors influencing their operation, primarily through constructivist epistemological approach and by applying less structured qualitative research methodology (Miles et al., 2014; Cassell – Symon, 2004).

Based on Creswell (2007), it is appropriate to start the design process of qualitative researches with clarifying presuppositions of the researcher. Qualitative researches are characterized ontologically, epistemologically, axiologically, rhetorically and methodologically by the following assumptions. (1) Ontologically, reality is seen as subjective and multifaceted specified by the participants of the research. Accordingly, researchers therefore use quotes, own words and phrases of the research subjects as evidences to support their statements. (2) Epistemologically: reduction of the distance between the researcher and the research subject is sought; that is, the researcher cooperates, spends time with the research participants, tries to become "insider" of the given area. (3) Axiologically: the researcher acknowledges that research is influenced by different values and therefore openly reveals and discloses them in the comparison of his or her own and the participants' interpretations. (4) Rhetorically: the language of qualitative research is rather informal, with personal tone, the researcher uses primarily qualitative terms, and definitions only to a limited extent; his or her narratives are easy to understand, appealing in style, he or she often uses first-person singular sentences. (5) Methodologically, research follows an inductive logic, examines the research subject in its context, research design can evolve flexibly in the light of the preliminary results. The researcher deals with the details and specialities before the general statements; puts sufficient emphasis on the contexts, and based on the experiences, he or she constantly reviews the questions.

Qualitative researches do not have a generally accepted structure, as it may vary depending upon the characteristics of the research, and may continuously change according to the experiences emerge during the research. Synthesizing the recommendations of the methodological literature, in line with the topic of the doctoral dissertation, the methodological steps of the research are as follows: introduction of the epistemological background of the research, identification of the units of observation, determination of the sampling procedure and the studied population, data collection and

recording, data analysis, examination of reliability and validity of the analysis, overview of ethical aspects, and formulation of research results (Mason, 2002; Krippendorff, 2004; Creswell, 2007; Babbie, 2008; Maxwell, 2013; Miles et al., 2014).

2.1. Epistemological Background of the Research

From epistemological perspective, the research is constructivist: in the doctoral dissertation, I accept the foundations of scientific approaches rooted in constructivist philosophy of science. These include, inter alia, the questioning of the existence of the external, objective world and social reality independent of human activities and knowledge, and a value-neutral scientific method. According to this approach, "the purpose of both lay and scientific knowledge construction is to provide useful, adequate, coherent, stable, or meaningful representation of the world in accordance with particular sets of systemic and sociolinguistic rules and constraints in given contexts" (Maréchal, 2010, p. 220). Individuals trying to understand the world surrounding them create subjective meanings from their experiences on different things. This is also true of a researcher who accepts and searches for the diversity of viewpoints, constructs theory during social interactions from subjective meanings determined by historical and cultural norms, and specifies the pattern of the meanings. The researcher recognizes that his or her own philosophical assumptions, worldview, values, beliefs and experiences influence the interpretation of the revealed meanings, and therefore interprets the results of the research with clarifying and disclosing the previous ones (Creswell, 2007).

2.2. Units of Observation and Sampling

The doctoral dissertation focuses on the population of Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses, from which the individual businesses and their official representatives (owners and managers) are the units of observation. I selected the studied population, due to particular features of the topic requiring special knowledge (thorough knowledge of the group of Hungarian progressive, value-oriented economic organizations committed to ecological values), through expert or purposeful sampling (Hunyadi et al., 1997; Babbie, 2008). The sample was made up based on personal and e-mail discussions with five Hungarian scholars and practitioners² experienced of the topic (I contacted fifteen persons, but only five of them could give me meaningful help). From the results of the consultations with the experts, I first compiled a longer list of 33 items. From this, in the time and financial framework of the empirical research and depending on the availability of the representatives (owners, managers) of the contacted businesses, I could finally study 14 enterprises in detail; this is the sample of the research. Representatives of the sampled businesses in 12 cases are the owners and

² Names (affiliations) of the five scholars, practitioners: Ádám Csepku (freelance environmentalist), József Papp (Corvinus University of Budapest), András Takács-Sánta (Eötvös Loránd University), Gergely Tóth (University of Pannonia, KÖVET Association), László Zsolnai (Corvinus University of Budapest)

managers of the enterprise, and in the case of 2 businesses senior executives. The list and main data of the sampled businesses are shown in Table 1.

No.	Sector	Company Name	Seat	Year of Foundation	Revenue (THUF, 31.12.2017/ *=31.12.2016)	Manpower (no.of persons, Aug 2018)
1	Energy	ALTEO Energy Public Limited Company	Budapest	2008	18 389 000	220
2	Food,	Pendits Vineyards and Winery Ltd.	Abaújszántó	1991	6 395	1
3	agriculture,	Pipacs Bakery Ltd.	Budapest	2014	7 077	8
4	ecofarms	Pannonhalmi Abbey Winery Ltd.	Pannonhalma	2002	463 408	26
5	Health	Béres Pharmaceuticals Plc.	Budapest	1993	11 135 215	442
6	preservation	Bio-Drog-Berta Ltd.	Kalocsa	1995	148 934	4
7	Transportation	Hajtás Pajtás Ltd.	Pilisszentlászló	1999	330 706	68
8	Construction	Kör Architect Studio Ltd.	Budapest	1989	9 849	1
9	Construction	Skanska Hungary Ltd.	Budapest	1997	* 914 685	28
10		Nekedterem Hungary Ltd.	Budapest	2012	52 838	3
11	Commerce	Zöldbolt/Ecoizm (Adrián Zelenák sole proprietor)	Veszprém	2007	* 233 000	11
12	Clothing,	Réthy Fashion Ltd.	Szigetszentmiklós	2012	5 782	5
13	design	NES Shoes (Erlin Galéria Nonprofit Ltd.)	Budapest	2009	1 798	2
14	Finance	MagNet Bank Plc.	Budapest	1995	5 790 000	225

Table 1:List and Main Characteristics of Hungarian Ecologically Conscious Businesses in
the Sample of the Empirical Research

Source: Own elaboration based on the Ministry of Justice Company Information, Electronic Company Registration Contribution Service (https://www.e-cegjegyzek.hu/) and Creditreform Service and Consulting Ltd. (http://www.ceginformacio.hu/) free online company information service, and semi-structured interviews with the studied businesses

During the selection of the sampled businesses, from the sampling strategies of the literature (Patton, 2002; Miles et al., 2014) I applied the following: (1) intensity, information-rich cases: I sought Hungarian businesses well known among the experts for their ecological consciousness in order that I could analyse in detail the phenomenon I examined, the presence of ecological consciousness in businesses. (2) Maximum variation: the selected 14 enterprises are active in eight key sectors of the Hungarian economy (energy, agriculture, food production, health preservation products, transportation, construction, trade, clothing and design, and financial institutions). In addition to the differences in the activities, I also tried to maximize variations in the company form (out of the 14 selected enterprises, there are 1 public limited company, 2 private limited companies, 9 limited liability companies, 1 nonprofit ltd. and 1 individual proprietorship), in geographic location (8 businesses seated in Budapest and 6 are rural companies), in the year of foundation (1 enterprise is under 5 years, 4 enterprises 5-10

years, 3 enterprises 10-20 years, 6 enterprises 20-30 years) and in size (based on the directive of European Commission 2003/361/EC there are 3 large company, 1 medium-sized enterprises, 3 small companies, and 7 micro enterprises), in order to study the features of ecological consciousness in cases with the most varied backgrounds. With regard to ownership, the dispersion is less significant: owners of 11 enterprises are Hungarian individuals, owner of 1 enterprise is a Hungarian church and a bank, 1 is owned by a foreign company and 1 is listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange. The main characteristics of the sampled businesses are summarized in Table 2.

Characteristics	Summary									
Sector	1 Energy	3 Foo		2 Health	1 Transportation	2 Construct.	2 Comm	nerce	2 Design	1 Finance
Legal Form	1 public	c ltd.	2 priv	vate ltd	9 Ltd.	1 nonprof	it Ltd.		1 sole proprietor	
Seat	8 Bud			ıdapest	apest			5 rural		
Year of Foundation	6 between 1989-1998		B betw	4 reen 1999-2008	3 betw.2009-2013		1 between 2014-2018			
Company Size	3 big company			1 medium si		3 small mi		7 licro enterprises		
Owners 11: Hungarian private persons			: Hungarian Irch and bank	1: foreign company		1: traded on stock exchange				

 Table 2:
 Summary of Main Characteristics of the Sample Businesses

Source: Own elaboration

Of the sampling strategies, (3) the pursuit of homogeneity and (4) the criterion type also have emerged as the selected enterprises are all well known for their ecological consciousness, which justified their selection; at the same time they also served as (5) confirming cases, because each of them is in some way cutting-edge in ecologically conscious operation. (6) The stratified purposeful sampling strategy can be also emphasized, that is I chose two enterprises from one sector to enhance depth of analysis through the possibility of their comparisons within the sector. Finally, the sampling strategy of (7) politically important cases was also considered, as several selected businesses operate in sectors of decisive importance for the national economy, so that the research can be of interest to different decision-makers; thus increasing the chances of utilization of the research results.

2.3. Data Collection and Data Recording

In the empirical research part of the doctoral dissertation, adapted to the topic, background and goals of the research, I applied two types of data collection and data generation methods to answer the research questions. As the primary method, I made semi-structured interviews with the representatives (owners and managers) of the selected Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses (Mason, 2002, Kvale, 1996, 2006, King, 2004, Barlow, 2010). The secondary method included company websites, publicly available official data, corporate documents, and other documents provided in some

interviews (such as sustainability report, code of ethics and conduct, annual report, programme summary of a sustainable development association, magazine, product description) and their analysis.

To conduct interviews, adapting to the flexibility of semi-structured interviewing, I used primarily not a questionnaire with predefined content and order of closed questions but rather an interview guide. To create this and to formulate the questions, I chose three main sources based on King's (2004) recommendation: the literature of the research topic, preliminary informal discussions with experts of the research field and my own previous knowledge and experiences. In addition to the literature, the most important sources were the consultation with my supervisor and the former researches of the Business Ethics Center related to this research. The interviews were audio-recorded on the basis of a permission from the interviewees and wrote protocols of them as suggested by Creswell (2007). I made transcripts from the audio recordings of the interviews to computer data files.

2.4. Data Analysis

The research of the value orientation of selected Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses was carried out with two approaches. The analysis of the characterization by interviewees of the importance of 13 predetermined (through analyzing the theoretical literature) ecological values³, follows a deductive logic as it starts from the theory. The respondent could indicate his or her response on a 7-grade Likert scale (where value 1 means the least important, maximum 7 means the most important) to express the importance of the given ecological value in entrepreneurship. At these questions, I also asked for a detailed explanation of the response from the interviewees, besides selecting the numbered categories. In this way, through combined use of techniques typical to semi-structured and structured interviews, the advantages of detail richness of qualitativity could be preserved and, knowing the limitations of the Likert-scale surveys⁴, the answers became formally comparable and depictable (Barlow, 2010; Robbins – Heiberger, 2011). The identification of elements of business models, the definitions of the raison d'étre and success of the interviewed businesses are also close to the deductive approach because they seek to map out emergence of existing categories.

However, I examined value orientation of the businesses also by inductive logic. The transcripts of the audio recordings of the semi-structured interviews, my notes made during the interviews and the texts of the documents used as the secondary data source were analyzed by data analysis techniques used for the qualitative analysis (qualitative content analysis: Patton, 2002; Krippendorff, 2004; Hsieh-

³ The 13 predetermined ecological values were selected in consultation with my supervisor based on literature analyzed in section "2.3.1. Ecology" and section "2.3.3. Ecological Consciousness" of the doctoral dissertation.

⁴ The limitations of measuring on Likert scale include, but are not limited to, the following:

⁽¹⁾ the Likert scale is an ordinal scale, therefore such data can not be used to perform mathematical-statistical operations (e.g. arithmetic, geometric means, deviation calculation) that can be applied on higher measurement level, such as interval scale or ratio scale (Hunyadi et al., 1997; Jamieson, 2004);

⁽²⁾ answers to questions may suffer from multiple distortions, such as social desirability, acquiescence, central tendency (Cassell – Symon, 2004; Babbie, 2008; McLeod, 2008; Mills et al, 2010).

Shannon, 2005; Bowen; 2009, Stan, 2010; and thematic analysis: Boyatzis, 1998; Fereday – Muir-Cochrane, 2006; Lapadat, 2010). During the content analysis, I focused not on the emergence of values derived from the theory, but starting from the text, I sought to reveal patterns that can characterize the value background, motivation, culture and mindset of the given enterprise through coding and categorization of meanings that can be identified in each paragraph. During the analysis and interpretation of meanings of the 36 patterns identified as a result of content analysis with this intention, I formed aggregate clusters from those patterns closer to each other.

In addition to semi-structured interviews, as a triangulation of data sources and data collection methods, I examined documents from businesses in the sample using document analysis (Bowen, 2009).

2.5. Reliability and Validity of the Analysis

Qualitative researches should also strive for the greatest possible objectivity, reliability and validity. In order to approach objectivity, I explored and presented my researcher value judgments, assumptions and goals, and documented the research process in detail. I also applied data recording and data storage based on the precautionary principle so that the entire process can be verified and replicated if necessary. To increase reliability I focused on clarity, consistency, and I used different types of triangulations. On the one hand, I examined other documents (data source triangulation) while analyzing the interviews. On the other hand, I also asked for help from a fellow researcher at our center to re-encode 3 out of 14 randomly selected interviews (inter-researcher triangulation). Analysis of corporate documents and texts of webpages confirmed the identified patterns; and the ratio of identical patterns encoded with the fellow researcher reached the standard threshold determined by the literature. In order to increase the validity of the research results, I applied quotations from the texts of interviews directly in support of the findings, and during the data analysis, I conducted the study according to deductive and inductive approach (Krippendorff, 2004; Miles et al., 2014). Nevertheless, as this doctoral research is based on a small sample, the results cannot be generalized. However, this qualitative research did not aim to reach representativity, but to explore and synthesize the details of the selected cases, which new knowledge could ground further future research and useful suggestions for practical life.

2.6. Ethical Aspects

During my doctoral research, I accepted Maxwell's (2013) research design concept that the consideration of ethical issues is not a separate factor, but a key aspect that must be taken into account in every part of the research design and implementation. Together with several other factors such as researcher skills, experience and style, available resources, perceived problems, research venues, and previous research findings, ethical aspects as environment of the research essentially influence the

design and realization of the research. Along with these principles, during my doctoral research, I particularly focused on the following aspects: (i) the participants of the research should receive all the necessary information in time and in sufficient detail to make a decision about their participation in research knowing all of these (informed consent). (ii) During the organization and conduct of interviews, I sought to minimize the interruption of the interviewee's work. (iii) I treated all the information I received confidentially, I only used those data for the analysis that were consented by the interviewees. (iv) Throughout the research process I sought to establish and maintain open and honest communication and to refrain from misusing any possibly emerging potential information and power asymmetry (Kvale, 2006, Creswell, 2007).

3. Research Findings

Based on my empirical research, the following findings can be formulated about the studied Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses.

3.1. Value Orientation of the Studied Businesses

(1) For Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses the following values are the most important: responsibility, trust, openness to the mystery, respect for ecosystems, love, temperance and reciprocity.

(2) Values such as humility, intrinsic value of natural beings, natural embeddedness, and biodiversity are important, but not decisive for Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses.

(3) The holistic approach is considered to be less relevant by Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses. However, based on the content analysis of interviews, it proves to be the second most often identifiable value after responsibility.

(4) Non-possession is a value that Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses do not consider as theirs at all.

(5) I also examined the value orientation of the sample businesses by content analysis of the interview transcripts with the inductive logic. The result of this, the clustering of the identified patterns is shown in Table 3. Accordingly, I could define 4 main groups of patterns from (i) general human characteristics, (ii) environmental and (iii) societal focus to (iv) economic focus. (In the pattern groups, the patterns appear from top to bottom according to their frequency of occurrence; the number after the pattern name indicates in how many out of 14 of the interviewees' answers that pattern could be identified.)

14 studied Hungarian businesses							
Human Characteristics	Environmental Focus	Societal Focus	Economic Focus				
commitment 11	environmental consciousness 13	social utility, local communities 13	economic factors, need for entrepreneurial, business knowledge 14				
non-harming, non- violence 11	education, environmental education 9	humaneness, human relationships, human- centeredness, human scale 12	innovation 13				
optimism, hope, gratitude 11	recycling 5	health, protection of life 7	quality 10				
life philosophy, worldview 10		culture, aesthetics 6	value-based, ethical operation, transparency				
setting an example 10		mission 6	certification 5				
authenticity 6		lack of social demand 6	labour shortage 4				
dedication, perseverance 5		tradition 2	lack of competitive advantage 1				
negative expectation, disappointment, hopelessness 5							
harmony with nature, connection with nature, interconnectedness 5							
struggle, fight 4							
self-confidence 3							
self-realization, joy 3							
respect 3							
common sense, practicality 2							
	Patterns overarchi	ng the four groups:					
	consciousness, sea	rch for meaning 10					
	cooperation, avoida	nce of competition 9					
	sustainability, tri	ple bottom line 6					
self-sust	ainability, self-management	, autonomy, adaptability, res	ilience 5				
	organ	icity 5					

Table 3: Clustering of patterns identified in the interview transcripts

Source: Own elaboration

Identified and grouped patterns are the most varied for human characteristics and the most concentrated for environmental focus. Almost all respondents emphasized the value creation for social and local communities, the human-centeredness, the importance of human relationships, the role of economic factors (difficulties, challenges, success factors), as well as the importance of innovations and quality. In addition to the clustering, it is an interesting phenomenon that the lower 5 patterns can be regarded as overarching the 4 groups. Namely, (a) consciousness, search for meaning, (b) cooperation, avoidance of competition, (c) environmental, social and economic sustainability, (d) self-sustainability, self-management, autonomy, adaptability, resilience, and (e) organicity may be a kind of synthesizing factor in the operation of the studied businesses.

3.2. Business Models of the Studied Businesses

(6) The business models of Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses are based on the personal value commitments of the owners and managers. Their main characteristics are, compared to the market average, more favourable environmental impacts, greater social responsibility, wider definition of and special attention to the range of stakeholders, the intention of setting an example and leading, higher cost level and / or lower but more stable profitability, a strong competitive situation, in which the competitive advantages deriving from their value commitments help their long-term survival, pursuit of cooperation and knowledge sharing, and adaptability.

(7) Of the Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses, primarily the smallest ones have to face a more challenging economic situation because they mainly struggle with financing difficulties, human resources difficulties, and deficiencies in general business knowledge (marketing, sales, finance, human resources management).

(8) The business models of Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses are similar to leading ecologically conscious foreign businesses along several dimensions (core values, value propositions, and cost structure). However, the market segments and the structure of value chains may vary greatly and significant differences are that the size of the international enterprises are typically significantly higher, their profit potential is more favorable, and they operate in a global competitive environment.

3.3. Raison d'Étre of the Studied Businesses

(9) The definitions of the "raison d'étre" of the studied businesses are quite varied depending on the activities carried out. Their most important elements in many cases are the pursuit of multidimensional (social, ecological, economic) sustainability and its promotion, setting an example and authenticity; the protection of the health, the integrity of the people in general and also of the nature, preserving the quality of their life, and the service of especially the Hungarian people, the Hungarian culture, society and economy, and local communities; production of high quality products and services; pursuit not of growth at all costs, but of organic development; as well as self-realization, expression of the personal values of the owners and managers.

3.4. Success Definitions of the Studied Businesses

(10) Hungarian ecologically conscious businesses in every case interpret success in a multidimensional way: financial profit is not the only priority objective but a means of long-term survival of the enterprise. The real success is simultaneously harmonized nurturing, preserving and restoring of typically 3-5, even 6-7 social and ecological values. An important element of the success definitions is to take into consideration the well-being of the whole stakeholder network in a wide sense.

3.5. Practical Suggestion Drawn from the Doctoral Research

(11) In order to strengthen the ecologically conscious businesses, to support their operation and thus to improve the prospects for the spread of ecological consciousness in the Hungarian economy, it is proposed that the generally micro and small-scale businesses struggling with economic difficulties be supported in acquiring general business knowledge (e.g. marketing, sales, finance, human resource management) with tailor-made training, training grants. It is also recommended that they learn from each other, as well as familiarize with and follow international leading practices.

4. Main References

- Ash, C. (2010): Boldogság és közgazdaságtan. In Zsolnai, L. (ed.) Boldogság és gazdaság. A buddhista közgazdaságtan eszméi. Az ökológiai gondolat III. Typotex Kiadó, Budapest. pp. 143-161.
- Babbie, E. (2008): The Basics of Social Research. 4th Edition. Thomson Wadsworth, Belmont.
- Barlow, C. A. (2010): Interviews. In Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. pp. 495-499. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998): Transforming Qualitative Information: Thematic Analysis and Code Development. Sage Publications, London.
- Bowen, G. A. (2009): Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. Qualitative Research Journal. Vol. 9, No. 2. pp. 27-40. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3316/qrj0902027
- Brenkert, G. G. (1995): The Environment, The Moralist, The Corporation and Its Culture. Business Ethics Quarterly. Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 675-697. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/3857409
- Capra, F. Jakobsen, O. D. (2017): A conceptual framework for ecological economics based on systemic principles of life. International Journal of Social Economics, Vol. 44, No. 6, pp. 831-844. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-05-2016-0136
- Carrington, D. (2016): The Anthropocene epoch: scientists declare dawn of human-influenced age. The Guardian, 29 August, 2016.
- Carson, R. (2007): Néma tavasz. Katalizátor Kiadó, Páty.
- Cassell, C. Symon, G. (2004): Introduction: The Context of Qualitative Organizational Research. In Cassell, C. Symon, G. (eds.): Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. Sage Publications, London. pp. 1-10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446280119
- Chesbrough, H. Rosenbloom, R.S. (2002): The role of the business model in capturing value from innovation: Evidence from Xerox Corporation's technology spin-off companies. Industrial and Corporate Change, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 529-555. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/11.3.529
- Club of Rome (2018): http://www.clubofrome.org/
- Creswell, J. W. (2007): Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design. Choosing Among Five Approaches. 2nd Edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.

- Crutzen, P. J. Stoermer, E. F. (2000) The Anthropocene. IGBP Global Change Newsletter. No. 41. pp. 17–18.
- Daly, H. E. Cobb, J. B. (1989): For the Common Good. Redirecting the Economy toward Community, the Environment, and a Sustainable Future. Green Print, London.
- Daly, H. E. (2008): Frugality First. In Bouckaert, L. Opdebeeck, H. Zsolnai, L. (eds.): Frugality: Rebalancing Material and Spiritual Values in Economic Life, Vol. 4, Peter Lang, Bern. pp. 207-226.
- Fereday, J. Muir-Cochrane, E. (2006): Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development. International Journal of Qualitative Methods. Vol. 5, No. 1. pp. 80-92. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690600500107
- Frank, R. H. (2004): What Price the Moral High Ground?: Ethical Dilemmas in Competitive Environments. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Future Earth (2018): http://www.futureearth.org/

GFN – Global Footprint Network (2018): https://www.footprintnetwork.org/

- Győri, Zs. Ócsai, A. (2014): Ecologically-oriented enterprises in Hungary. World Review of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development, Vol. 10, No. 1. pp. 52-65. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1504/wremsd.2014.058053
- Harangozó, G. Csutora, M. Kocsis, T. (2018): How big is big enough? Toward a sustainable future by examining alternatives to the conventional economic growth paradigm. Sustainable Development. Vol. 26, pp. 172-181. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1728
- Hsieh, H-F. Shannon, S. E. (2005): Three Approaches to Qualitative Content Analysis. Qualitative Health Research. Vol. 15, No. 9. pp. 1277-1288. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Hunyadi, L. Mundruczó, Gy. Vita, L. (1997): Statisztika. Aula Kiadó, Budapest.
- Ims, K. J. Pedersen, L. J. T. Zsolnai, L. (2014): How Economic Incentives May Destroy Social, Ecological and Existential Values: The Case of Executive Compensation. Journal of Business Ethics. Vol. 123, pp. 353-360. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1844-6
- Ims, K. J. Pedersen, L. J. T. (eds.) (2015): Business and the Greater Good: Rethinking Business Ethics in an Age of Crisis. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham Northampton.
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2013): Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis.
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2017): http://www.ipcc.ch/
- Jakobsen, O. (2017): Transformative Ecological Economics: Process Philosophy, Ideology and Utopia. Routledge, London – New York. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315205434
- Jamieson, S. (2004): Likert scales: how to (ab)use them. Medical Education, Vol. 38, No. 12, pp. 1217-1218. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.02012.x
- Kaldschmidt, S. (2011): The Values of Sustainability: The Influence of Leaders' Personal Values on Sustainability Strategies. Dissertation of the University of St. Gallen, School of Management, Economics, Law, Social Sciences and International Affairs.

- King, N. (2004): Using Interviews in Qualitative Research. In Cassell, C. Symon, G. (eds.): Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. Sage Publications, London. pp. 11-22. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446280119.n2
- Krippendorff, K (2004): Content Analysis. An Introduction to Its Methodology. 2nd Edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Kvale, S. (1996): Interviews. An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Kvale, S. (2006): Dominance Through Interviews and Dialogues. Qualitative Inquiry. Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 480-500. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800406286235
- Lapadat, J. C. (2010): Thematic Analysis. In Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. pp. 925-927. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- Maréchal, G. (2010): Constructivism. In Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. pp. 220-225. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- Mason, J. (2002): Qualitative Researching. 2nd Edition. Sage Publications, London.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013): Qualitative research design: an interactive approach, 3rd edition, Sage Publications, London.
- McLeod, S. A. (2008): Likert scale. https://www.simplypsychology.org/likert-scale.html
- MEAB Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Board (2005): Millennium Ecosystem Assessment: Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis.
- Mesarovic, M. Pestel, E. (1974): Mankind at the turning point: The second report to the Club of Rome. Dutton, New York.
- Miles, M. B. Huberman, A. M. Saldana, J. (2014): Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook. 3rd Edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- NEF New Economics Foundation (2009): The Happy Planet Index 2.0: Why good lives don't have to cost the Earth. http://www.happyplanetindex.org/public-data/files/happy-planet-index-2-0.pdf
- NEF New Economics Foundation (2016): The Happy Planet Index 2016: A global index of sustainable wellbeing. http://happyplanetindex.org/s/Briefing-paper-HPI-2016.pdf
- Olson, M. (2010): Document Analysis. In Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. pp. 318-320. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- Pataki, Gy. Takács-Sánta, A. (eds.) (2005): Természet és gazdaság. Ökológiai közgazdaságtan szöveggyűjtemény. Az ökológiai gondolat I. Typotex Kiadó, Budapest
- Patton, M. Q. (2002): Qualitative research and evaluation methods. 3rd Edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.
- Polányi, K. (1976): Az archaikus társadalom és a gazdasági szemlélet. Gondolat Kiadó, Budapest.

- Robbins, N. B. Heiberger, R. M. (2011): Plotting Likert and Other Rating Scales. In JSM Proceedings, Section on Survey Research Methods, pp. 1058-1066. American Statistical Association, Alexandria.
- Schumacher, E. F. (1991): A kicsi szép: Tanulmányok egy emberközpontú közgazdaságtanról. KJK, Budapest.
- Shrivastava, P. (1995): Ecocentric Management for a Risk Society. The Academy of Management Review. Vol. 20, No. 1. pp. 118-137. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1995.9503271996
- Stan, L. (2010): Content Analysis. In Mills, A. J. Eurepos, G. Wiebe, E. (eds.) (2010): Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks. pp. 225-230. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412957397
- Steffen, W. Broadgate, W. Deutsch, L. Gaffney, O. Ludwig, C. (2015): The trajectory of the Anthropocene: the Great Acceleration. The Anthropocene Review. Vol. 2. pp. 81-98. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785
- Steffen, W. Richardson, R. Rockström, J. Cornell, S. E. et al. (2015): Planetary Boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. Science 347: 6223, 1259855, pp. 1 – 10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1259855
- Steffen, W. Rockström, J. Richardson, K. –Lenton, T.M. Folke, C. Liverman, D. Summerhayes, C.P. – Barnosky, A.D. – Cornell, S.E. – Crucifix, M. – Donges, J.F. – Fetzer, I. – Lade, S.J. – Scheffer, M. – Winkelmann, R. – Schellnhuber, H.J. (2018): Trajectories of the Earth System in the Anthropocene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences Aug 2018, 115 (33) 8252-8259. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1810141115
- Takács-Sánta, A. (2009): Környezeti problémák: A generalisták és a társadalmi dimenzió hiánya. Magyar Tudomány. 2009/1. pp. 62-66.
- Takács-Sánta, A. (2010): Rapa Nui vagy Tikopia? Ökológiai válság és kiútlehetőségek című humánökológia tanfolyam 2010/2011 előadásainak anyaga, Budapest.
- Tinbergen, J. (1979): A RIO-jelentés: A nemzetközi gazdasági rend átalakítása. KJK, Budapest.
- UNEP United Nations Environment Programme (2012): Global Environment Outlook: GEO5 Environment for the future we want.
- Waters, C.N. Zalasiewicz, J. Summerhayes, C. Barnosky, A.D. Poirier, C. Gałuszka, A. Cearreta, A. Edgeworth, M. Ellis, E.C. Ellis, M. Jeandel, C. Leinfelder, R. McNeill, J.R. deB. Richter, D. Steffen, W. Syvitski, J. Vidas, D. Wagreich, M. Williams, M. Zhisheng, A. Grinevald, J. Odada, E. Oreskes, N. Wolfe, A.P. (2016): The Anthropocene is functionally and stratigraphically distinct from the Holocene. Science 8 January 2016, Vol. 351, Issue 6269. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad2622
- WWF World Wide Fund for Nature (2016): Living Planet Report 2016: Risk and resilience in a new era.
- Zsolnai, L. (2015): Post-Materialistic Business: Spiritual Value-Orientation in Renewing Management. Palgrave Macmillan, Houndmills. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137525987
- Zsolnai, L. Győri, Zs. (2011): Can Ethics Survive in Competitive Environments? Empirical Evidence from Values-Driven Businesses, European Business Ethics Network 24th Annual Conference. 2011.09.15-17.

5. List of the Author's Publications Related to the Topic

Journal articles in Hungarian

- 1 Kovács, G. Ócsai, A. Veress, T. [forthcoming in spring 2019]: A spiritualitás szerepe az üzleti vállalkozásokban és a közösségi gazdaságban. *Magyar Tudomány*, Special issue titled "Üzleti etika".
- 2 Ócsai, A. [2018]: A vállalkozások ökológiai tudatossága. *Vezetéstudomány*, Vol. XLIX. No. 9, 2018, pp. 2-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.14267/veztud.2018.09.01

Working paper in Hungarian

3 Ócsai, A. [2018]: Az ökológiai tudatosság új üzleti modelljei. Working paper. Final study of the research project supported by the ÚNKP-17-3-III New National Excellence Program of the Ministry of Human Capacities. Digital institutional repository "Corvinus Kutatások" of Corvinus University of Budapest, Budapest, p. 117.

Book chapters in English

- 4 Ócsai, A. Boda, Zs. [2018]: The Power of Tradition: Béres Pharmaceuticals. In O'Higgins, E. Zsolnai, L. (eds.) (2018) Progressive Business Models: Creating Sustainable and Pro-Social Enterprise, Palgrave Macmillan, London, pp. 51-72. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58804-9_3
- 5 Kovács, G. Ócsai, A. [2016]: Mindfulness and Non-Violence in Business. In Chatterji, M. Zsolnai, L. (eds.) (2016) *Ethical leadership: Indian and European spiritual approaches*, Palgrave Macmillan, London, pp. 171-189. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-60194-0_10
- 6 Kovács, G. Ócsai, A. [2015]: The Spirit of Non-Violence and Peace in Business. In Bouckaert, L. Chatterji, M. (eds.) (2015) Business, Ethics and Peace. Contributions to Conflict Management, Peace Economics and Development, Volume 24, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp. 231-245. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/s1572-832320150000024014

Journal articles in English

- Zsolnai, L. Kovács, G. Ócsai, A. [2018]: Why do we need contemplative approaches in economics and management? Introduction to the special section. *Society and Economy*. Vol. 40, No. 4, pp. 493–496. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1556/204.2018.40.4.1
- 8 Győri, Zs. Ócsai, A. [2014]: Ecologically-oriented enterprises in Hungary. World Review of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development, Special Issue on Spirituality and Sustainability, Volume 10, No. 1, pp. 52-65. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1504/ wremsd.2014.058053

Conference abstracts, paper, poster and presentations in English

9 Ócsai, A. [2018]: New models of ecologically conscious business. Conference abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of the final results of the research project supported by the ÚNKP-17-3-III New National Excellence Program of the Ministry of Human Capacities at the "The Will to Serve. Inspiring Models of Servant Leadership and Social Entrepreneurship", Annual European SPES Conference, KU Leuven/Damien Center, 24-26 May, 2018, Leuven, Belgium.

- 10 Ócsai, A. [2017]: Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses. Conference abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of progress report of the doctoral dissertation including presentation of the case study on Béres Pharmaceuticals at the "New Economy, Old Traditions: Caring Entrepreneurship", Annual European SPES Conference, Tel Aviv University, 4-6 September, 2018, Tel Aviv, Israel.
- 11 Ócsai, A. [2017]: Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses. Workshop abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of preliminary results of the doctoral dissertation at the "Knowing the Anthropocene. Exploring knowledge practices of the Anthropocene" PhD workshop, University of Tübingen, 26-28 July, 2017, Tübingen, Germany.
- 12 Ócsai, A. [2017]: Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses. Workshop abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of progress report of the doctoral dissertation at the "Trans-Atlantic Doctoral Academy on Business, Economics and Ethics" organized by the Institute for Business Ethics, University of St. Gallen at Beuth Hochschule für Technik, 16-21 July, 2017, Berlin, Germany.
- 13 Ócsai, A. [2016]: Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses in Hungary. Workshop abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of progress report of the doctoral dissertation including presentation of key findings of the case study of Béres Pharmaceuticals at the "Trans-Atlantic Doctoral Academy on Business, Economics and Ethics" organized by the Institute for Business Ethics, University of St. Gallen at Questrom School of Business at Boston University, 25-29 October, 2016, Boston, USA.
- 14 Ócsai, A. [2016]: Value orientation of ecologically conscious businesses in Hungary. Scientific poster and presentation. Presentation and discussion of the poster at "The Ninth TransAtlantic Business Ethics Conference. Justification and Application: Bridging the Gap in Business Ethics" at University of St. Gallen, 28 September 1 October, 2016, St. Gallen, Switzerland.
- 15 Ócsai, A. [2016]: Values, Drivers and Challenges of CEMS Business Ethics Faculty Group. Conference abstract and presentation at Globe Ethics Forum "Higher Education - Ethics in Action", 23-24 June, 2016, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 16 Ócsai, A. [2016]: Value orientation of Hungarian ecologically-oriented businesses. Workshop abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of the doctoral dissertation at the "Trans-Atlantic Doctoral Academy on Business, Economics and Ethics" organized by the Institute for Business Ethics, University of St. Gallen, 24-28 May, 2016, St. Gallen, Switzerland.
- 17 Ócsai, A. [2015]: The Role of Spirituality in Organic Agriculture. Conference abstract, Management in the VUCA World: The Role of Spirituality, Eurospes Conference 2015, 3-4 July, 2015, Amsterdam, Netherlands.
- 18 Ócsai, A. [2015]: Value-oriented business and ecological transformation. Conference abstract and presentation. Presentation and discussion of the doctoral dissertation at the Doctoral Consortium of the conference "Spirituality & Creativity in Management World Congress 2015", ESADE Barcelona, 22-25 April, 2015, Barcelona, Spain.
- 19 Zsolnai, L. and Ócsai, A. [2014]: Spiritual Turn in Business Management. Conference paper and presentation. Presentation and discussion of the main findings of the paper at the "ReThinking Management 2014: The Impact of Cultural Turns", Karlshochschule International University, 16-17 October, 2014, Karlsruhe, Germany.